# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 93, 988

NOEL DOORBAL,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY.

# AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SCOTT W. SAKIN, P.A.
Special Assistant Public Defender
Counsel for Noel Doorbal
1411 N.W. North River Drive
Miami, Florida 33125
(305) 545-0007

#

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 2, 1996, an indictment was filed charging the defendant with conspiracy to commit racketeering, racketeering, two counts of first degree murder involving Frank Griga and Krisztina Furton, three counts of kidnapping, attempted extortion, two counts of grand theft, attempted extortion, attempted first degree murder of Marcelo Schiller, armed robbery, burglary of a dwelling, arson, extortion and conspiracy to commit a first degree felony. (R. 61-112). A jury trial was conducted before the Honorable Alex Ferrer, Circuit Judge, from February 2, 1998 to May 5, 1998. At the conclusion of trial, the jury found the defendant guilty of all counts, as charged. (R. 2704-2708). Following the penalty phase, the jury returned an

advisory verdict of 8-4 in favor of imposing the death penalty on the two, first degree murder counts. (R. 2940-41).

The trial court subsequently entered a sentencing order imposing the sentence of death on the two murder counts. (R. 3462-85). Regarding the Furton murder count, the court found that the State had established six aggravating circumstances: the defendant was previously convicted of a capital felony or a felony involving violence, the capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged in a kidnapping, the capital felony was committed for the purpose of avoiding a lawful arrest, the capital felony was committed for pecuniary gain, the capital felony was heinous, atrocious or cruel and the capital felony was cold, calculated and premeditated. (R. 3462-72). With regard to the Griga murder count, the court found that the State had proven the same aggravating circumstances with the exception of the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravator. The court assigned great weight to each of the aggravating circumstances found The court found that no statutory mitigating by the court. circumstances had been proven. 1 The court found that several nonstatutory mitigators had been proven: the defendant had a difficult and abusive childhood, the defendant had been a hardworking employee

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Although the defendant had no prior convictions prior to the instant prosecution, the Court found that the no significant prior criminal history mitigator had been rebutted by the entry of burglary and grand theft convictions against the defendant on the counts relating to Marcelo Schiller. (R. 3472-73).

and a loyal friend, the defendant had found religion, the defendant had properly comported himself in the courtroom and the defendant would spend the rest of his life in prison based upon the convictions entered against him. The court assigned little weight to each of the mitigators found. (R. 3475-81).

Finding that each of the aggravating circumstances, with the exception of the felony murder aggravator, was sufficient to outweigh all of the mitigating circumstances combined, the court sentenced the defendant to death on each of the first degree murder counts. (R. 3483). On the remaining counts the court sentenced the defendant to thirty years on the conspiracy to commit racketeering count, thirty years on the racketeering count, life on each of the kidnapping counts, five years for both the attempted extortion and one grand theft count, life on the attempted first degree murder count, life on the armed robbery count, fifteen years each for the burglary and grand theft counts, thirty years on the arson count, thirty years on the armed extortion count and fifteen years on the conspiracy to commit a first degree felony count. All sentences and minimum mandatories imposed as a condition of the sentences were to run consecutively. (R. 3483-85).

On July 28, 1998, the defendant timely filed a motion for new trial. (R. 3495-99). The trial court denied the motion after convening a hearing on January 13, 1999. (R. 3837-38).

On January 31, 1999, a timely notice of appeal was filed. (R.

3781). This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On January 22, 1998, the court conducted a hearing on the defendant's motion to suppress evidence. (R. 1121-24, T. 2260). The motion attacked police searches of the defendant's apartment and car that were done pursuant to search warrant. (R. 1195-1287). At the hearing, the defendant contended that the affidavits filed in support of the issuance of the warrants were insufficient, because they failed to establish probable cause to believe that the defendant was connected with any wrongdoing, or that any evidence of criminality would be found in either the defendant's apartment or car. (T. 2260-70, 2274-75). The defendant further argued that each succeeding warrant was based upon evidence seized pursuant to a preceding, improvidently-issued warrant. (T. 2284). The trial court rejected the defendant's argument and found probable cause in the affidavits to support issuance of the warrants. The court therefore found the searches of the defendant's apartment and car to be legal. (T. 2277, 2284-85).

At trial, Jorge Delgado testified that he met Marcelo Schiller through his wife, who had been working for Schiller at Schiller's accounting firm. (T. 11597-98). Delgado subsequently went to work for Schiller and developed a close friendship with him. (T. 11599). As a result of that friendship, Schiller confided in Delgado and provided him with a great deal of personal information. (T. 11601). Delgado

subsequently went into business with Schiller: they both engaged in a medical supply business which was a front for Medicare fraud<sup>2</sup> and they engaged in a mortgage business. (T. 11637, 11642-43). The Medicare business was quite lucrative; Delgado made in excess of \$300,000 in 1992. (T. 11891).

In 1992, Delgado joined Sun Gym and met both Daniel Lugo, a codefendant, and the defendant at the gym. (T. 11638, 11640). Delgado became very friendly with Lugo and entered into a joint business venture with him. (T. 11645, 11648). After Delgado introduced Lugo to Schiller, Schiller expressed disapproval of Lugo and told Delgado that he would not do business with Lugo. In effect, Schiller forced Delgado to choose between him and Lugo. (T. 11644-45).

Subsequently, after Lugo had become involved in the billing of the Medicare business, Lugo informed Delgado that Schiller had cheated him. (T. 11647, 11651). According to Lugo, Schiller owed Delgado \$200,000. (T. 11661). After Schiller rejected Delgado's request for the money, Lugo suggested that they kidnap Schiller to force him to get the money back. (T. 11652-53).

In October, 1994, a meeting was conducted in Lugo's office with Delgado, the defendant, Carl Weekes and Stevenson Pierre.<sup>3</sup> At that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Delgado admitted that he and Schiller had been involved in hundreds of instances of Medicare fraud. (T. 12031-33). Delgado also acknowledged that he was the subject of a federal investigation into those fraudulent activities. (T. 11862).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Stevenson Pierre met Lugo when he was hired by him at Sun Gym in October, 1993. (T. 8834). Pierre claimed that Lugo offered him \$100,000 to participate in the

meeting, Lugo announced that they would try to capture Schiller and get their money back. 4 (T. 11657). Each of the participants had a role: Lugo led the meeting, Delgado was to provide information about Schiller and was to watch him once he was captured, Pierre and Weekes were to assist in Schiller's capture and watch him once he was captured and the defendant was to help with Schiller's capture and get him to talk by roughing him up, if necessary. (T. 11657-58, 11662-63). The participants agreed that Schiller would be kept at a warehouse previously rented by Delgado. (T. 6459-69, 11664). In preparation for the kidnapping, Lugo purchased a taser gun, a mask, rope, handcuffs and duct tape. (T. 11666-67). The men then endeavored to abduct Schiller by staging a car accident, by snatching him out of his home and by forcibly taking him at his place of business, Schlotzky's Deli. (T. 8858-8891). Each attempt failed. Finally, on November 15, 1994, Marcelo Schiller was successfully abducted by the defendant, Mario Sanchez<sup>5</sup> and Carl Weekes outside of Schlotzky's Deli. (T. 7327,

Schiller kidnapping. (T. 8850). Carl Weekes is Pierre's cousin. (T. 8833).

Pierre was charged with attempted first degree murder, kidnapping, armed robbery, burglary, two counts of grand theft and arson for his role in the Schiller incident. (T. 8950). Facing life in prison, Pierre entered into a negotiated plea with the State on all the charges. In return for his cooperation, Pierre was to receive a sentence of ten years in prison. If he failed to cooperate fully, Pierre was to be sentenced to forty years in prison. (T. 8951-53).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Lugo claimed that Schiller owed him \$100,000. (T. 11661).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Mario Sanchez met the defendant when they worked together at Sun Gym in 1994. (T. 8456-58). Sanchez alleged that he had a volatile relationship with the defendant. (T. 8458-59). Sanchez claimed that he once heard the defendant heatedly tell another weight

8498).

Schiller testified that he left Schlotzky's Deli after 4:00 PM on November 15, 1994 and walked to his Toyota 4-Runner parked in the lot at the rear of the restaurant. (T. 7325-26). Schiller saw some men approach, although he did not get a good look at them. (T. 7327). As the men grabbed for Schiller, Weekes "got" Schiller with a taser several times. (T. 7327, 8497). Schiller stated that the taser was very painful. While Schiller struggled to resist, Sanchez grabbed Schiller and forced him into a waiting van. (T. 8498). As the defendant drove away from the scene, Weekes struck Schiller several times, handcuffed him and threatened to kill Schiller if Schiller did not remain quiet. (T. 8499). Weekes taped Schiller's eyes and both Weekes and Sanchez struck Schiller several times. (T. 7328, 8500-05). Weekes then removed Schiller's jewelry and gave it to the defendant. (T. 8505). As he drove, the defendant called someone on a cellular

lifter that, "when I get mad I'll do anything. I'll cut – I'll start up a chain-saw and cut somebody up just to see the blood spurting." He also alleged that he once heard the defendant say, "I'll go into a house and tie everybody up, grandmother, mother, daughter... And I'll shoot – I'll start shooting everybody until they give me what I want." (T. 8548-49). Both remarks were objected to by counsel for co-defendant Mese. The court overruled the objections. (T. 8549). Despite these tirades, Sanchez stated that the defendant was able to entice him to get involved in the Schiller incident by offering him \$1000 to help him collect a debt from a "drug dealer." (T. 8474-75). Sanchez claimed that he was not aware that Schiller was a kidnap victim at the time that Schiller was abducted. (T. 8498).

Sanchez was charged with attempted first degree murder, armed kidnapping, armed robbery and burglary for his role in the Schiller incident. (T. 8573). Sanchez entered into a negotiated plea on the kidnapping charge only. Originally facing a prison sentence of 7 to 12 years, Sanchez was sentenced to two years in prison followed by two years of community control. (T. 8577).

phone and announced, "the eagle has landed." (T. 8525).

Pierre and Lugo met the defendant, Sanchez, Weekes and Schiller at Delgado's warehouse. (T. 8527). During the next several hours, Delgado and Lugo retrieved Schiller's car from the restaurant parking lot, while they all administered a beating to Schiller. Schiller was punched, kicked, burned with a cigarette butt and struck with a gun. (T. 7329-33, 8897, 11670). As they beat Schiller, the men demanded a list of Schiller's assets. Schiller noted that the men had accurate information about some of his holdings. (T. 7333-34). Based upon the information his captors had, Schiller assumed that Delgado was involved. (T. 7340-41). At that time, Schiller also recognized Lugo's voice. (T. 7336). The men threatened Schiller's wife and children. Schiller told his captors that they could have what they wanted if they allowed his wife and children to leave the country. (T. 7338-39).

With the information provided by Schiller, the defendant and Lugo went to Schiller's home and removed his safe and several personal items. (T. 8912, 11675). The money from the safe, approximately \$10,000, was split between the defendant, Pierre and Weekes. (T. 8912).

During the next several days, Schiller was required to call his bankers and sign several documents. (T. 7351-53). Included among the documents was a deed to Schiller's home, which was conveyed to D & J International, a corporation formed by Lugo and John Mese. (T. 8913,

11676-77). The deed and a change of beneficiary form<sup>6</sup> for Schiller's life insurance policies were taken to Mese for notarization. (T. 8916-17, 11680). Schiller was also required to sign a confession admitting to Medicare fraud, although Schiller denied that he was ever involved in any such activity. (T. 7354-55). Additionally, Schiller was required to marshal his assets from several offshore accounts. Checks totaling \$1,260,000 were then unwittingly signed by Schiller and deposited in the corporate account of a company named Sun Fitness<sup>7</sup>. (T. 7484-85, 11680-81). According to Delgado, Lugo, the defendant, Pierre, Weekes, Delgado and Mese were to share in the proceeds. (T. 11682). Finally, Schiller was told by his captors that he should call

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Sharon Farugia, an employee of Met Life, testified that in November, 1994, Marcelo Schiller owned two life insurance policies worth \$1,000,000 each. The original beneficiary on the policies was Diana Schiller, Schiller's wife. (T. 6856-60). On November 24, 1994, a change of beneficiary form was executed changing the beneficiary on the policies to Lillian Torres, "fiancee." (In fact, Lillian Torres was Lugo's ex-wife). (T. 6861-63, 8204, 8211). There was a mark for a signature and the signature was notarized by John Mese. (T. 6862). On December 22, 1994, Gene Rosen, Schiller's attorney, notified Met Life that the change of beneficiary should be voided and that the beneficiary should again be Diana Schiller. (T. 6863, 6887).

Additionally, Camilo Blanco, a principal in the construction of La Gorce Palace, a 34 story condominium on Miami Beach, testified that Schiller and his wife had purchased a condominium prior to construction. (T. 6904-06). On November 28, 1994, Blanco received a written assignment of Schiller's contract on the condominium, which purported to assign Schiller's interest to Lillian Torres. The assignment had been signed by Schiller and was notarized by Mese. It was accompanied by a check for \$2,400 written on Schiller's account. (T. 6909-14). Blanco was unable to contact Torres. (T. 6911). In February, 1995, Gene Rosen contacted Blanco and informed him that the assignment should be voided. (T. 6918).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Sun Fitness account was owned by Mese. However, Lugo and the defendant were the authorized signatories on the account. (T. 9579).

Gene Rosen and tell him to grant Delgado power of attorney over Schlotzky's Deli. (T. 7367). When he was informed of Delgado's involvement, Schiller assumed that his captors planned to kill him. (T. 7366-67).

Lugo told Delgado that the plan was to get Schiller drunk and have him burn in a staged car accident. (T. 11686). On December 15, 1994, Lugo directed Schiller's 4-Runner into a pole, with an intoxicated Schiller sitting in the front seat of the car. (T. 8919-21). Lugo doused the car with gasoline and ignited it. (T. 8922). However, because they had forgotten to seat belt Schiller in, he was able to escape. (T. 8923). At the direction of Lugo and the defendant, Weekes ran Schiller over twice. (T. 89223, 11688). When the police found Schiller, they believed that he had been involved in a car accident while driving drunk. Schiller was transported to Jackson Memorial Hospital. (T. 8920, 11688).

When Lugo and Delgado realized that Schiller might not be dead, Lugo, Weekes, Pierre and the defendant went to the hospital looking for Schiller. The defendant had decided to attempt to strangle Schiller in his bed. (T. 11689). However, because a guard had been stationed outside Schiller's door, nothing was done. (T. 8926-27, 11690).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Schiller's suspicions were confirmed by Delgado. Once Schiller learned of Delgado's involvement, according to Delgado, it was decided that Schiller had to die. (T. 11685).

Lugo, Delgado and the defendant later went to Schiller's home and emptied it. Delgado took Schiller's stereo and television. The defendant took Schiller's furniture. Lugo took furniture, cameras and Schiller's BMW. (T. 11694-95). They all used Schiller's credit cards to buy things. (T. 8931-32, 11695-96).

Schiller suffered several major injuries as a result of his abduction. (T. 6968-69, 7375-77). While hospitalized, Schiller informed his doctor of what had happened to him. He also told his attorney, Gene Rosen. (T. 7378, 7594-96). Despite these reports, no police officer responded to the hospital to investigate the abduction. (T. 7596). On his lawyer's advice, Schiller fled from the hospital and went to New York in an effort to assure his safety. (T. 7379, 7769).

In January, 1995, Schiller hired private investigator, Ed Dubois, to try to regain his money and property. (T. 7385-86).

Based upon a memorandum written by Schiller, Dubois contacted John Mese. (T. 7776). Dubois met with Mese in February, 1995, and told Mese that he represented Schiller. Dubois allowed Mese to read the memorandum prepared by Schiller. (T. 7781-84). Mese admitted that he knew Delgado and Lugo, but denied any knowledge of Schiller's abduction. (T. 7783-87). Mese did not deny that he had notarized

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> In furtherance of his efforts to purchase items with Schiller's credit cards, Lugo rented a post office box in Schiller's name. Elle Ovedia, the owner of the postal center, recalled that Lugo had asked her to pre-date the rental of the box back to March, 1994. (T. 9329-33).

Schiller's documents. He simply claimed that he did not recognize Schiller's name because he frequently notarizes documents. (T. 7783-86). At Dubois' request, Mese agreed to set up a meeting between Dubois and Lugo. (T. 7788).

At the appointed meeting time, Dubois met Delgado rather than Lugo. (T. 7800-04). After informing Delgado of Schiller's claims, Delgado denied Schiller's story and told Dubois that the entire matter concerned a business deal. (T. 7805, 11700). After Dubois asked Delgado if a business deal included torture and kidnapping, Delgado told Dubois that another meeting would be required. (T. 7805-07). They agreed to meet with Lugo on the following day in Mese's Miami Lakes office. (T. 7808).

The next day, Dubois arrived at the appointed time, but found neither Mese nor Delgado at Mese's office. Instead, he was shown into an office where he waited for 2-3 hours. In the trash in the office, Dubois found Merrill Lynch account statements for an account bearing the defendant's name, several cancelled checks written by Lugo and other documents relating to Lugo and Sun Fitness. (T. 7827-57). Finally, Mese and Delgado arrived. Lugo did not attend the meeting. (T. 7859-60). Delgado told Dubois that "we" will give back the \$1.26 million taken from Schiller. The return of the money was conditioned on Schiller signing an agreement in which he was to state that the money was being returned for a business deal gone sour. (T. 7861, 7867). Schiller must also agree that he would not go to the police.

(T. 7867). Dubois agreed to the conditions on Schiller's behalf even though he believed that the agreement was not enforceable. (T. 7867-68). Delgado then dictated an agreement and promised to produce the money by the next day. (T. 7868-69).

During the days that followed, several faxes were exchanged between Dubois, Mese and Joel Greenburg, a lawyer retained by Delgado to draft an agreement. (T. 7871-79, 7889-93). Although Schiller signed the agreement drafted by Greenburg, the agreement was never signed by the other parties named in the agreement: Delgado, Lugo or Mese. (T. 7909-10). After several failed attempts to reclaim Schiller's assets, Dubois contacted the police and provided the police with the documents that he found at Mese's office. (T. 7946-59).

In the months following Schiller's abduction, Delgado purchased a Mercedes and gave his leased 300 ZX to the defendant. Lugo leased a Mercedes. (T. 11709, 11721). Delgado claimed that the defendant had Schiller's furniture in his apartment and that the defendant lived off the money taken from Schiller. (T. 11724, 11727). Lugo lived in an

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  Dubois contacted the police 3  $1\!\!/_{\!\!2}$  months after he was initially contacted by Schiller. (T. 8015).

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