CASE NO. SC93988

NOEL DOORBAL,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE  
ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-  
DADE COUNTY,  
CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH  
Attorney General  
Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD  
Assistant Attorney General  
Florida Bar No. 0012068  
Office of the Attorney  
General  
Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 950  
444 Brickell Avenue  
Miami, Florida 33131

PH. (305) 377-5441  
FAX (305) 377-5654

**

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

Patsy Hernandez, Defendant's half-sister, testified that Defendant was the product of a liaison between her father and a 13 year old, that he was loved by his father and grandmother, that his mother hated him, and that he was loving, considerate and obedient. (T. 14037-79) She also claimed that Defendant's mother was abusive towards him but never saw any abuse. *Id.*

Jeffery Hernandez, Patsy's husband, confirmed her testimony. (T. 14079-14106)

After this testimony, Defendant renewed his request to admit the letters from Lugo, claiming that Bernstein's testimony about the change in Defendant made them relevant. (T. 14143-44) The trial court indicated that it still had not heard any evidence that the letters were indicative of the relationship during the time the crimes were committed. (T. 14144-49) Defendant then asserted that the letters showed that Lugo thought he could influence Defendant or that Defendant had changed because he did not do as Lugo asked. (T. 14149-60) The trial court rejected this argument because Lugo's beliefs had nothing to do with Defendant's character and because the alleged change was not shown to be due to the removal of Lugo's influence. *Id.* As such, the trial court excluded the letters. (T. 14160)

Petra LaRoche, Defendant's grandmother, testified that her daughter Winifred became pregnant with Defendant at the age of 13 by a man who had children her age. (T. 14163-68) According to LaRoche, Winifred had mental problems, refused to care for Defendant and was jealous of him. (T. 14168-74, 14180-81) LaRoche claimed that Winifred once banged Defendant's head into the wall, broken his hand and would hit him with sticks. (T. 14176-77) LaRoche claimed that because of this mistreatment, she

sent Defendant to live with relatives. (T. 14178-84) Defendant told LaRoche that Lugo was like a brother or father to him. (T. 14185-86) On cross, LaRoche claimed that she had stated that Winifred had never broken any of Defendant's bone because she did not remember the hand. (T. 14203)

During the charge conference, Defendant did not request an instruction on the merger of aggravators. (T. 14109-24, 14134-35, 14160-61, 14209-28) The trial court instructed the jury regarding the limiting construction of the avoid arrest aggravator: "'The purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest' means where the homicide victim is not a police officer, then the defendant's dominant or only motive in committing the homicide was the elimination of a witness." (R. 2835)

After deliberating, the jury recommended that the trial court impose a death sentence for each murder by a vote of 8-4. (R. 2940-41, 14311-12) In his sentencing memorandum, Defendant did not assert that any of the aggravators were being double counted. (R. 3147-58) The trial court agreed with the jury's recommendation and imposed a death sentence for each of the murder convictions. (R. 3462-85) The trial court found 5 aggravators applicable to both murders: prior violent felonies, including the contemporaneous murder of the other victim and the kidnapping, robbery and attempted murder of Schiller; during the

course of a kidnapping; avoid arrest; for pecuniary gain; and CCP. (R. 3462-72) The trial court also found the heinous, atrocious and cruel (HAC) aggravator applicable to the Furton murder. (R. 3468-71) The trial court accorded great weight to each of the aggravators. *Id.* The trial court found no statutory mitigators and 6 nonstatutory mitigators: difficult childhood - little weight; hard working and loyal employee - little weight; loyal friend and positive influence on others - little weight; religious devotion and ability to help others with their religious beliefs - little weight, appropriate courtroom behavior - little weight; and possibility of life imprisonment - little weight. (R. 3472-81) The trial court stated that each of the aggravators individually, with the exception of during the course of a felony, would have outweighed all of the mitigation. (R. 3483)

The trial court also sentenced Defendant to 30 years imprisonment for the conspiracy to commit RICO, RICO, arson and extortion, life imprisonment for the kidnappings and attempted first degree murder, life imprisonment with a 3 year minimum mandatory provision for the armed robbery and armed kidnapping, 15 years imprisonment for the burglary, grand theft and conspiracy to commit a felony, and 5 years imprisonment for the attempted extortion and grand theft auto. (R. 3484) All of the

sentences were to be served consecutively. (R. 3485) This appeal follows.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Defendant did not preserve any issue regarding the admission of testimony about threats and comments he had made. Moreover, the trial court would not have abused its discretion in admitting this evidence because it was relevant to matters other than Defendant's character. Any error in the admission of this testimony was harmless.

The issue regarding the comments during the State's guilt phase closing argument is unpreserved. Moreover, any error in the comments was harmless, as the evidence was overwhelming and the comments were brief.

The trial court properly denied Defendant's motion to suppress the evidence seized from his home. The trial court properly excluded Lugo's letters in the penalty phase, and any error was harmless.

The issue regarding the comments during the State's penalty phase closing is unpreserved. Further, the comments were proper, and any error was harmless.

Any argument regarding the merger of aggravating factors was not preserved. Further, the aggravators do not in fact merge.

The trial court's findings of CCP and avoid arrest were proper.

## ARGUMENT

### I. ANY ISSUE REGARDING THE ADMISSION OF TESTIMONY WAS NOT PRESERVED, THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING THE TESTIMONY AND ANY ERROR WAS HARMLESS.

Defendant first asserts that the State admitted improper character evidence at his trial. Specifically, Defendant complains that the State elicited testimony about Defendant's threats to cut people up with a chain saw, to commit a home invasion murder and to kill his girlfriend, a description of Defendant as a killer in his home country, and Defendant's statement that he was making a bomb. However, this issue is unpreserved and meritless.

When Sanchez, Petrescu and Fawcett testified about the threats, statement and description, Defendant did not object. In order to preserve an issue regarding the admission of testimony, it is necessary to object to that testimony. *Castor v. State*, 365 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1978). As Defendant did not object to any of the evidence about which he complains, this issue is not preserved.

Even if the issue had been preserved, the trial court would still not have abused its discretion in admitting this

testimony.<sup>3</sup> Defendant asserts that the State admitted the testimony of Sanchez and Petrescu as character evidence. However, this testimony was not admitted to show that Defendant acted in conformity with the matters asserted in the comments. In *Bryan v. State*, 533 So. 2d 744, 747 (Fla. 1988), this Court made clear that evidence that tended to reflect upon a defendant's character was admissible if it was admitted for some purpose other than to demonstrate that the defendant was of bad character.

Here, the testimony of Sanchez regarding Defendant's statement about the chain saw and the home invasion were admitted to explain why Sanchez did not report the Schiller kidnapping and continued to associate with Defendant. In fact, the question that elicited these statements was, "Did [Defendant] ever do anything or say anything in the gym that made you fearful of him?" (T. 8457) Similarly, the testimony of Petrescu was admitted to show that she accompanied Lugo when he stalked Lee and agreed to assist Defendant and Lugo in the initial unsuccessful attempts to kidnap Griga and Furton because she believed that Defendant and Lugo were government agents

---

<sup>3</sup>A trial court's rulings on the admission of evidence is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Ray v. State*, 755 So. 2d 604, 610 (Fla. 2000); *Zack v. State*, 753 So. 2d 9, 25 (Fla. 2000).

attempting to apprehend a terrorist and a tax cheat. As these statements were not even elicited for the truth of the matters asserted, they were not admitted to show that Defendant had a bad character. Thus, the trial court would not have abused its discretion in admitting this testimony had Defendant objected. *Bryan*, 533 So. 2d at 747; see also *Trease v. State*, 25 Fla. L Weekly S622, S623 n.5 (Fla. Aug. 17, 2000); *Pittman v. State*, 646 So. 2d 167, 171 (Fla. 1994).

Even if the admission of this evidence was error, it was harmless. *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). The testimony about which Defendant complains was brief, comprising but a page or two of a more than 14,000 pages transcript. During closing, the State portrayed the CIA comment as false. (T. 13088-89, 13186, 13452) The State did not mention any of the other statements about which Defendant complains. (T. 13057-13193, 13437-66) In fact, the only mention of any of these statements was made by Defendant during closing. (T. 13276)

Moreover, the State presented testimony regarding Defendant's participation in the planning of the Schiller kidnapping, the attempt to kidnap Lee and the Griga/Furton murders, eyewitness testimony regarding Defendant's involvement in the Schiller kidnapping, evidence that he was in possession of Schiller's property thereafter, incriminating statements

Defendant made while incarcerated, physical evidence of Griga's blood in Defendant's apartment and on his clothing, and eyewitness testimony and physical evidence regarding his participation in the disposal of Griga and Furton's bodies. Given the brevity of the testimony about which Defendant complains and the wealth of evidence against him, any error in the admission of this testimony cannot be said to have affected the verdicts and was, therefore, harmless. *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

**II.& III. ANY ERROR IN COMMENTS  
DURING THE STATE'S GUILT  
PHASE CLOSING ARGUMENT  
WAS NOT PRESERVED AND  
DOES NOT REQUIRE  
REVERSAL.<sup>4</sup>**

Defendant next asserts that the State made improper comments during its closing argument in the guilt phase. However, any error in these comments is unpreserved and does not merit reversal.

During its initial closing argument, the State described the crimes against Schiller:

What happened?  
Well, during that time, even in the

---

<sup>4</sup>Because both issues II and III concern comments during the State's guilt phase closing argument, the State has combined them to avoid repetition.

first couple of hours they beat the living day lights out of him. They beat him. They stuck guns in his mouth. They tortured him.

Remember Detective Hoadley came in and showed you how that Omega tazer work. [sic] Many of you jumped.

Can you imagine how that would feel on your skin right up close? How it felt on Marc Schiller's sweating legs and ankles. But again and again until he signed over everything. Signed over his entire life.

(T. 13068) Defendant did not object to this comment. *Id.* The State later commented on Delgado's testimony:

He tells you about the enterprise. He tells you about what's going on. He tells you the gross details that you need to know it's a first degree murder case. There is a second degree murder case; it's different. It's a first degree murder case, nothing less.

Another thing is that -- listen to the cross examination of George Delgado? Try and recall it. Never once was it anybody else but defendant Doorbal that was the hands-on killer. Lugo, along with the hands-on killer Doorbal. Never once did anybody else get up once to say anything different.

(R. 13180-81) Again, Defendant did not object. *Id.*

In order to preserve an issue regarding a comment in closing, a defendant must interpose a contemporaneous objection to the comment. *See McDonald v. State*, 743 So. 2d 501, 505 (Fla. 1999); *Chandler v. State*, 702 So. 2d 186, 191 (Fla. 1997); *Kilgore v. State*, 688 So. 2d 895, 898 (Fla. 1996). Here, Defendant did not object at all to either of the comments about which he complains. As such, this issue is not preserved.

With regard to the second comment, the trial court would not have abused its discretion in permitting this comment even if the issue had been preserved<sup>5</sup>. While Defendant asserts that the comment impermissibly implicated his right to remain silent, this is not so. The State specifically referred the jury to Delgado's cross examination and was merely pointed out that Delgado had not been impeached regarding who kill Griga or Furton. As such, this comment was not fairly susceptible to being construed as a comment on Defendant's failure to testify. See *Rich v. State*, 756 So. 2d 1095, 1095-96 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000); see also *Wolcott v. State*, 774 So. 2d 954 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001). Moreover, unlike *Rodriguez v. State*, 753 So. 2d 29 (Fla. 2000), upon which Defendant relies, Defendant was not the only person who could have contradicted Delgado's statement: Lugo was present for both murders and Raimondo was present for the murder of Furton. As such, the trial court would not have abused its discretion in permitting this comment had there been an objection.

Moreover, any error in these comments was harmless. *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). The State's initial

---

<sup>5</sup>An appellate court's review of a trial court's ruling on closing argument is for an abuse of discretion. *Fernandez v. State*, 730 So. 2d 277, 281 (Fla. 1999).

closing argument covered almost 140 pages of transcript, and the comments were brief. Further, the State presented overwhelming evidence of Defendant's guilt. There was abundant testimony of Defendant's participation in the planning and organization of the Schiller kidnapping, the attempt to kidnap Lee and the Griga/Furton murders. Several eyewitnesses testified to Defendant's involvement in the Schiller kidnapping, and Defendant was found in possession of Schiller's property. Independent eyewitnesses placed Defendant with Griga and Furton immediately before they were kidnapped. Griga's blood was found on Defendant's clothing and on carpeting and other items removed from Defendant's apartment.<sup>6</sup> Defendant was seen holding Furton against her will, attempting to obtain information to get Griga's property from her, injecting her with the xylazine that killed her and assisting in the disposal of the bodies. Defendant made a statement inculcating himself and Lugo. Given the mountain of evidence against Defendant, any error in the brief comments in closing was harmless. *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986); *Bertolotti v. State*, 476 So. 2d 130 (Fla. 1985).

---

<sup>6</sup>Contrary to Defendant's suggestion, this evidence which was not provided by Petrescu or Delgado was inconsistent with him being an accessory after the fact.

**IV. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED  
DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS.**

Defendant next asserts that the trial court erred in failing to suppress evidence seized from his home and car pursuant to search warrants. Defendant contends that the affidavits for the initial warrants did not set forth sufficient evidence to show probable cause and that the subsequent searches were illegal because they were based on evidence found during the execution of the earlier warrants. However, this issue is unpreserved and meritless.

In order to preserve an issue regarding the denial of a motion to suppress, a defendant must move to suppress the evidence pretrial and renew that motion when the evidence is admitted at trial. Here, Defendant moved to suppress the evidence pretrial but did not renew the motion when the evidence was admitted at trial. Instead, Defendant stipulated to the admission of the evidence at trial. As such, this issue is unpreserved. *Terry v. State*, 668 So. 2d 954, 959 (Fla. 1996); *Kokal v. State*, 492 So. 2d 1317, 1320 (Fla. 1986).

Even if the issue had been preserved, the trial court still properly admitted the evidence. In *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 238-39 (1983), the Court set out the standard for issuance of a search warrant:

The task of the issuing magistrate is simply to make a practical, common-sense decision whether, given all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit before him, including the "veracity" and "basis of knowledge" of persons supplying hearsay information, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place. And the duty of the reviewing court is simply to ensure that the magistrate had a "substantial basis for ... conclud[ing] that probable cause existed."

The standard of review "of the sufficiency of an affidavit should not take the form of de novo review. A magistrate's 'determination of probable cause should be paid great deference by reviewing courts.'" *Id.* at 236.

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